2015

**David and Ruth M. Fuller and Fuller's Appliance Parts and Service, LLC, Appellants, vs. Denise Bohne and Western States Insurance Agency, Appellees**

Utah Court of Appeals

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellate jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) as this is an appeal from a final district court judgment that was transferred here from the Supreme Court.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL

This appeal raises three issues. The need to resolve the second and third issues is dependent in each instance on the outcome of the previous issue. If the Court reverses the district court's judgment based on the first issue, it need not reach the second; and if it reverses on the second, it need not reach the third.

1. The district court abused its discretion by declining to enforce the parties' stipulation to apply a 10% prejudgment interest rate after:
  - a. The parties agreed to the rate in a court-approved stipulated jury instruction to which all objections were waived;
  - b. The court withdrew the instruction upon the express agreement the court would make the calculation automatically; and
  - c. The court articulated the calculation would be made using the approved and agreed 10% rate, with no objection from any party.
2. The district court incorrectly failed to apply the 10% prejudgment interest rate of Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1 to negligence-based choses in action, contrary to the controlling case law of this Court and the Supreme Court.

3. The district court abused its discretion by applying a low 2015 post-judgment interest rate when prejudgment interest began running in 2007.

### **STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

1. “Normally, ‘a district court’s decision to enforce a stipulation is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.’” *State v. Beckstrom*, 2013 UT App 186, ¶ 12 n.5, 307 P.3d 677 (quoting *Prinsburg State Bank v. Abundo*, 2012 UT 94, ¶ 10, 296 P.3d 709).

2. The application of the legal rate in Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1 as prejudgment interest for negligence-based property damage chases in action is a legal question reviewed for correctness. *See Francis v. National DME*, 2015 UT App 119, ¶ 21, 350 P.3d 615 (“When our review requires us to examine statutory language, we look first to the plain meaning of the statute and then review [the] district court’s interpretation of a statute for correctness.”) (construing Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1) (citation and quotations omitted).

3. If the district court had discretion to decide the appropriate rate of interest to use, review of discretionary decisions is for abuse of that discretion. *See Mercado v. Hill*, 2012 UT App 44, ¶ 8, 273 P.3d 385.

### **PRESERVATION BELOW**

The issues presented were preserved in the trial court. (R. 1599-1600, 1631, 1689, 1702, 1711, 1742-47, 1750-51, 1759-67, 1772-81, 1792-97, 1799-1933, 1950-51; 1969, at 68-73; 1971; 1973; Addendum Exhibits 1-8.)

### **RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISION**

The following statutory provision is implicated by the second issue raised in this appeal, if the Court reaches that issue:

Unless parties to a lawful contract specify a different rate of interest, the legal rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods, or chose in action shall be 10% per annum.

Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1(2) (2013). Prior versions of the statute are attached as Addendum Exhibit 9.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal asks the Court to apply the proper rate of prejudgment interest to a jury award for property damage based on negligence. The defendants stipulated to using the 10% statutory legal interest rate, then reneged once the verdict went against them. The district judge let the defendants out of their stipulation, then applied a 2.27% post-judgment rate when entering final judgment.

This brief discusses the proper prejudgment interest rate by addressing successive dependent issues presented for review. If the Court reverses on any issue presented, it need not address any succeeding issue.

The first issue is whether this Court should enforce a stipulation reached between the parties that a 10% prejudgment interest rate applied to the prejudgment interest award. This stipulation was entered after the parties had already agreed to a jury instruction containing that rate. The instruction was

withdrawn on the express agreement that the court would automatically calculate prejudgment interest if the jury awarded property damages. The court articulated on the record the parties' understanding that the 10% calculation would be made by the court, and no party objected. The jury then awarded property damages as contemplated by the stipulation and ruling. The district court nevertheless declined to enforce the rate agreed to by stipulation. This Court should enforce the stipulation by reversing and remanding for entry of a judgment applying the agreed 10% rate.

If, however, the Court declines to enforce the stipulation for whatever reason, it should nevertheless conclude that the applicable rate for prejudgment interest in this case is the statutory legal rate of 10% from Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1. Both this Court and the Supreme Court hold that this rate applies to negligence-based claims like those on which the jury awarded property damages in this case. Thus, if the Court reaches this issue, the Court should reverse and remand for entry of a judgment applying the 10% statutory prejudgment interest rate.

If the Court decides not to enforce the stipulation and also determines not to use the statutory legal rate of interest, the Court should reverse and remand for use of an appropriate rate of interest reflective of the forbearance of payment in this case. The district court used a low 2015 post-judgment interest rate without any explanation or justification. The interest rate should be reflective at

least of the rates in place when interest began running, which were significantly higher than the one used by the district court. The district court also eschewed case law using a “middle ground” rate. Case law using a post-judgment interest rate does not apply here, and the district court exceeded its discretion in applying it.

Under any of these approaches, this Court should reverse and remand.

#### **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW**

This case went to trial on the plaintiffs’ claims for failure of the defendant insurance agents to put in place adequate insurance coverage for them. (R. 1230-36; 1969, at 87-131.) The plaintiffs suffered six-figure property damage in a fire, only to discover their agents had put in place a mere \$3,000 of insurance despite their request for full coverage. (R. 1230-36, 1864, 1930; 1969, at 128; Pls.’ Trial Exs. 18, 21-24.) The plaintiffs sued in contract and tort. (R. 1230-36.)

On the first day of trial, the parties submitted stipulated jury instructions that included an instruction on prejudgment interest. (R. 1599-1600, 1631.) The rate agreed to in the instruction was 10%. (R. 1631.) The district court approved the instruction and included it in the final set to be given to the jury. (R. 1689, 1702; 1969, at 68, 70.)

Before the instruction was given, the defendants asked to withdraw the instruction and replace it with a stipulation that prejudgment interest would be awarded on the same basis as a matter of course by the district court if the jury



returned a verdict for the plaintiffs on its claim for personal property damage. (R. 1969, at 70-73.) The plaintiffs agreed. (R. 1969, at 72-73.) The district judge accepted the stipulation, articulated specifically that the 10% calculation would be used, and stated his approval of the amount. (R. 1969, at 72-73.) No party objected to this ruling. (R. 1969, at 73.) The jury then returned a verdict for the plaintiffs awarding damages for the value of lost property based on agent negligence and negligent misrepresentation. (R. 1733-34.)

After trial, the plaintiffs moved for entry of judgment on the verdict to include prejudgment interest of 10%. (R. 1742-47.) Notwithstanding their prior stipulation, the defendants opposed the motion on grounds they had not stipulated to such an award. (R. 1759-67.) They also argued for the first time that a different interest rate should apply, though they did not propose any different rate. (R. 1763-65.)

Following a hearing on the matter, the district court issued a memorandum decision stating that no stipulation had been reached with respect to an absolute award of prejudgment interest. (R. 1792-97; 1971.) The court then asked for simultaneous supplemental briefing on an award of prejudgment interest in the absence of a stipulation. (R. 1796; 1972, at 2-3.) In its supplemental brief, the defendants proposed for the first time that the court use Utah's post-judgment interest rate as the prejudgment interest rate in this case. (R. 1808-10.)

At the hearing following the submission of supplemental briefs, the district court, acting *sua sponte*, partially reversed its prior memorandum decision after listening to the recorded stipulation from the trial. (R. 1973, at 1-12.) The court ruled that the parties had in fact reached a binding stipulation with respect to the award of prejudgment interest, and ordered it to run from June 13, 2007. (R. 1973, at 12-13.) The court declined, however, to use the 10% rate previously agreed to by the parties and approved by the court. (R. 1973, at 20.) Instead, the court decided to apply the 2015 post-judgment interest rate of 2.27%. (R. 1973, at 20-21.) The court gave no explanation for this choice. (R. 1973, at 20.) The court then entered judgment for the plaintiffs using this rate for the prejudgment award. (R. 1950-51.)

The plaintiffs have appealed the district court's interest rate determination. (R. 1954-55.) This is the sole focus of this appeal. The defendants have not cross-appealed with respect to any portion of the judgment.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Plaintiffs are David and Ruth M. Fuller, husband and wife, and their wholly owned small business, Fuller's Appliance Parts and Service, LLC, a Utah limited liability company (collectively the "Fullers"). (R. 1230.) The Fullers purchased insurance on their home, business, and vehicles through Denise Bohne (pronounced "Bonnie") and Western States Insurance Agency of Spanish

Fork, Utah (“Western States”). (R. 1230-32.) They sought full coverage for all of their personal and business property. (R. 1231; 1969, at 91.)

On February 3, 2007, a fire destroyed the Fullers’ home in Springville, Utah, where their business was located. (R. 1232.) The Fullers made claim on the business insurance coverage that Bohne and Western States had purportedly put in place for them, only to find they were significantly underinsured. (Pls.’ Trial Exs. 21-24, 26.) After receiving a check for \$3,000 as the sum total of the insurance coverage in place, the Fullers sued Bohne and Western States. (R. 1, 1230, 1864; 1969, at 128; Pls.’ Trial Ex. 18.)

The Fullers demonstrated at trial, *inter alia*, that Bohne and Western States (hereafter collectively “Western States” or the “Western States defendants” unless otherwise indicated) had placed the Fullers’ signatures on insurance applications without the Fullers’ knowledge and had used them to obtain coverage different in kind and amount than that which the Fullers had requested. (R. 1969, at 96-102, 114-15; Pls.’ Trial Exs. 1, 58-61; Defs.’ Trial Ex. 29.) The Fullers sought damages for breach of the defendants’ duties as insurance agents, breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and negligent misrepresentation. (R. 1230-36, 1733-34.) The damages alleged included the value of business equipment, inventory, and tools lost in the fire, and prejudgment interest on this lost personal property. (R. 1230-36, 1702, 1733-34; 1969, at 68-73; Pls.’ Trial Exs. 21-24.) The Fullers also claimed lost

rental value from the loss of use of their home. (R. 1734; R. 1969, at 128-29; Pls.' Trial Ex. 56.)

The Fullers contemporaneously catalogued and detailed their property damages in inventories that were submitted at trial as Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 22 (Personal Property Inventory) and supported further by Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibits 21 (Proof of Loss), 23 (Inventory of Parts), and 24 (Appliances for Sale). All property damages related to lost equipment, tools, and inventory. (Pls.' Trial Exs. 21-24.)

On the first day of trial, the parties stipulated to certain legal instructions to be given to the jury. (R. 1599-1600.) These included Instruction No. 29, which provided as follow:

**Prejudgment Interest**

The Fullers seek recovery of prejudgment interest as part of their loss. In Utah, prejudgment interest may be awarded in situations where the damage is complete, the loss can be measured by facts and figures, and the amount of loss is fixed as of a particular time. If you find for the Fullers on their claim of prejudgment interest, you should award them 10% annually on the value of their proven loss from the date of the fire to the date of your verdict.

(R. 1631 & Addend. Ex. 2.) Western States agreed this was an accurate statement of the law and stipulated to its contents. (R. 1969, at 68, 70, 1702 & Addend. Exs. 3-4.) The district court approved the instruction, included it in the final instructions, and was prepared to give it to the jury. (R. 1969, at 70, 1702; Addend. Exs. 3-4.)

Shortly before the jury was instructed, Western States asked the court to withdraw this instruction and have prejudgment interest decided by the trial court. (R. 1969, at 70-72 & Addend. Ex. 4.) When the Fullers balked at this request, Western States, under questioning from the court, confirmed the addition of prejudgment interest to an award of property damages would be automatic if the jury in fact awarded personal property damages. (R. 1969, at 71-72.) The offer was given in exchange for removing a third line from the special verdict form allowing the jury to award the Fullers prejudgment interest in addition to property damages and rent damages. (R. 1734; 1969, at 69-73.) The Fullers accepted this offer and the trial court agreed to this approach. (R. 1969, at 72-73.) The court then articulated on the record the understanding that the interest would be calculated by the court at 10% per annum, as per the previously stipulated jury instruction, and that the court was “fine” with this amount. (R. 1969, at 73.) No party objected to the court’s decision. (R. 1969, at 73.)

The relevant portions of the transcript reflect first the specific stipulation between the parties to the substance and content of the final jury instructions, including Instruction No. 29, which contained the 10% interest rate as the rate to be applied in the case:

THE COURT: So this is a full and complete set? Yes?

MR. BARRETT [Counsel for Western States]: It is, Your Honor.



MR. CHRISTIANSEN [Counsel for the Fullers]: Yes, Your Honor.

(R. 1969, at 70; *see also* R. 1689-1710.) Then, after stipulating to the instructions, Western States spontaneously proposed withdrawing Instruction No. 29 and having the court simply apply prejudgment interest automatically if property damages were awarded. (R. 1969, at 70-71.) The record reflected the offer, acceptance, and district court approval, and articulation of the stipulation to apply the 10% rate with no objection from any party:

MR. BARRETT: Your Honor, if we can, we were having discussion about whether the special verdict form should allow, in addition to a damage line for property as well as a damage line for rent, whether it should also have prejudgment interest. And during the break, I was able to look at the MUJI, Model Utah Jury Instructions, Second Edition, special verdict form CV 1899, and it is in the context of a fraud instruction, which is a variation of the negligent misrepresentation, so I realize it's not particularly analogous, but in this, it indicates that counsel should specify the type of damages, in this case economic and non-economic. Our case, there are no non. And damages so the judge can calculate prejudgment interest. Your Honor, I would prefer that that remain the situation here.

THE COURT: Let me ask Mr. Christiansen. So, I mean, you're asking for it, but I - my experience has always been the opposite. Where I'm - if there is a dispute, I can - I mean, if there's no dispute -

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: We've got an instruction in on it.

THE COURT: We can strike the instruction.

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, but I want the jury to decide whether they're - whether the plaintiffs are entitled to prejudgment interest. You're not saying the Court would make that determination.

THE COURT: Well, are you - is there any argument about whether

-

MR. BARRETT: No -

THE COURT: -- they're entitled to prejudgment interest?

MR. BARRETT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. BARRETT: If there's a property damage -

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Okay.

MR. BARRETT: - there's going to be prejudgment interest -

THE COURT: Right, so you're - it - your - they're -

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Then I'm okay with that.

THE COURT: Right. Exactly.

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: (Inaudible).

THE COURT: I didn't - I didn't - it's - we're on the same page. I don't see that there's a disagreement about whether they're entitled to it or not. What I'll do is, it's in there, and when we get to it, instruct them to just strike it out, that the Court will - well, just strike that out, that that's no longer a part of the instructions. And you can tell them that.

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Okay. Can we take that instruction out completely from the jury?

THE COURT: Just rip out instruction 29.

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And I'll tell them that we're skipping that, that was a potential we skipped over. How's that?

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Okay. Excellent. Thank you.

THE COURT: All right, so take it out - look, part of me - it's a simple calculation, so I really didn't care much, because it's a 10 percent

calculation and you can do it in your head. I also don't think as I said, there's any – it's – the amount is fine. But as a technical matter, this is the better approach.

MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yep. Okay, so jury instruction 29 is withdrawn.

(R. 1969, at 70-73 & Addend. Ex. 5; *see also* R. 1711.)

After deliberations, the jury returned a verdict for the Fullers and against both defendants jointly and severally. (R. 1733-34 & Addend. Ex. 6; R. 1969, at 64-65.) The jury found Bohne and Western States had breached their duties as agents and made negligent misrepresentations to the Fullers that had caused them damage. (R. 1733-34.) The jury awarded \$101,585 to the Fullers for the value of their lost personal property. (R. 1734.) The jury did not award any rental damages. (R. 1734.)

After trial, the Fullers moved for entry of judgment on the verdict. (R. 1742-47.) Consistent with the prior stipulation reached with Western States, the Fullers included prejudgment interest of 10% from 2007 to the time of entry of the judgment. (R. 1745-46, 1751.)

At this point, notwithstanding its prior stipulation, Western States opposed inclusion of prejudgment interest in the judgment. (R. 1763-65.) The Western States defendants argued (1) they had not stipulated; (2) no prejudgment interest was appropriate; and (3) the 10% rate did not apply. (R. 1763-65.)

The district court held a hearing that included addressing this issue. (R. 1971.) The district judge observed: "I have a specific recollection of sitting here as we were going through that, that it struck me that there was a stipulation, and that I was a little surprised, actually, Mr. Barrett, that that wasn't – that you were just saying, fine, it applies to everything." (R. 1971, at 14-15.) The district judge further observed: "I need to go back and listen to the tapes at this portion," referring to the recordings of the trial colloquy. (R. 1971, at 14.) Western States' counsel argued that it had not been his intent to stipulate to a 10% rate to be applied to all claims on the property damages and that the jury's findings on the tort claims left "a little bit of a muddy water." (R. 1971, at 14.)

On January 6, 2015, the district court issued a memorandum decision ruling that the stipulation did not conclusively decide the prejudgment interest issue. (R. 1792-97 & Addend. Ex. 7.) Citing the "prejudgment interest statute," Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1, as well as the common law, the court ruled that prejudgment interest was in fact awardable for negligence claims and that Western States had conceded as much at the hearing. (R. 1795 n.4.) The Court also acknowledged the effect of the law incorporated into Jury Instruction No. 29, which awards prejudgment interest "where the damage is complete, the loss can be measured by facts and figures, and the amount of loss is fixed as of a particular time." (R. 1796.) Nevertheless, the court ruled that while "some of those determinations may be made based on the jury's verdict," "some of those

determinations have yet to be made.” (R. 1796.) The Court therefore asked for simultaneous supplemental briefing to be able to make all such remaining determinations. (R. 1796; 1972, at 2-3.)

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