2016

David and Ruth M. Fuller and Fuller's Appliance Parts and Service, LLC, Plaintiffs / Appellants, v. Denise Bohne, Insurance Agent, Western States Insurance Agency, Auto Owners Insurance Company, Safeco Insurance Company of Los Angeles, California, Defendants / Appellees

Utah Court of Appeals

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

¹⁹ *Miller v. Utah Dept. of Transp.*, 2012 UT 54, ¶13, 285 P.3d 1208 (A “trial court may properly refuse to give requested instructions where it does not accurately reflect the law governing the factual situation of the case.”)

²⁰ Sister courts agree that “a reviewing court is not bound by an erroneous stipulation as to a conclusion of law which is not a stipulation of fact.” *See, e.g., Valdez v. Taylor Automobile Co.*, 129 Cal.App.2d 810, 278 P.2d 91 (Cal.App. 1954). It makes no sense to require that a court enforce stipulated errors of law when that same court is not required to ensure that a jury enforce stipulated errors of law.

parties stipulated to removing numerous questions related to interest from the jury and reserved them for the court.

Further, the parties contemplated a 10% rate of interest based on the anticipated facts to be presented at trial. The jury had yet to find any facts when the instruction was withdrawn.

Lastly, even if the parties stipulated to a 10% interest rate under §15-1-1, the district court was required to revisit that if it later appeared to be legal error, as a trial court never has discretion to commit an error of law. *Wilson v. IHC Hospitals, Inc.*, 2012 UT 43, ¶ 52 n.15, 289 P.3d 369 (“A trial court abuses its discretion if it commits legal error.”)

Therefore, the district court acted within its discretion by considering the applicable and appropriate rate of interest in this case after the withdrawal of Jury Instruction No. 29, regardless of whether the interest rate was stipulated or not.

C. In the Alternative, the District Court Correctly Reformed the Stipulation, Which was Based on the Parties’ Mutual Mistake as to the Rate of Interest.

In the alternative and based on the foregoing, the parties’ stipulation to withdraw Jury Instruction No. 29 was based on a mutual mistake that the prejudgment interest rate was stipulated at 10% and that this was the appropriate prejudgment interest rate. Utah law is clear that “[a] mutual mistake of fact can provide the basis for equitable rescission or reformation of a contract even when the contract appears on its face to be a complete and binding integrated agreement.” *Burningham v. Westgate Resorts, Ltd.*, 2013 UT App 244, ¶ 12, 317 P.3d 445 (emphasis added) (citation and internal quotation marks

omitted). “A mutual mistake occurs when both parties, at the time of contracting, share a misconception about a basic assumption or vital fact upon which they based their bargain,” *id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted), and subsequently fail to reduce their actual intent to writing, *FDIC v. Taylor*, 2011 UT App 416, ¶ 47, 267 P.3d 949. *See also Peterson v. Coca-Cola USA*, 2002 UT 42, ¶ 19, 48 P.3d 941 (noting that mutual mistake “warrants the reformation” of a contract where, among other things, “the instrument as made failed to conform to what the parties intended” (citation and internal quotations omitted)).

The parties here stipulated to withdrawing Jury Instruction No. 29 consistent with *Fell*. That case makes clear that loss of property will be remedied by damages, to which prejudgment interest will be added if the amount of damages can be mathematically fixed as of a certain date. *Fell*, at 88 P.3d 1003, 1007. If and when those conditions are met, interest may be calculated at the “legal rate.” *Id.* At the time of *Fell*, the legal rate was set by statute at 8% for all claims, unless the parties to a contract set it at another rate.²¹

At the point that Jury Instruction No. 29 was withdrawn, there was no agreement about the amount of damages, from what date interest might accrue, or the applicable rate of interest - all aspects of the interest calculation that were as yet undetermined.

Where a mutual mistake is alleged, the court may consider parol evidence. *See, e.g., Kendall Insurance v. R&R Inc.* 189 P.3d 114, 2008 UT App 235, ¶16 (affirming equitable rescission of an integrated, written contract based on mutual mistake of fact). That’s exactly what the district court did here; it went beyond the oral agreement to

²¹ *See* n.6, *infra*, for the text of the statute in effect at the time of *Fell*.

withdraw Jury Instruction No. 29 and looked (repeatedly) at the record of the parties' statements leading up and culminating in the withdrawal. *See, e.g.*, R. 1973:1, 3, 7. Upon realizing the parties' disagreement, and reviewing both the record and the parties arguments about the bases for and the scope of the stipulation, the district court correctly decided that the interest rate was not stipulated.

The district court summarized the circumstances in its January 6, 2015 decision. It later vacated the parts of that decision that might question whether interest would be awarded, but it did not vacate the decision in its entirety. Questions about the amount, including the rate, lingered. The following January 29, 2015 excerpt describes the parts of the district court's previous decision which were modified and which were undisturbed:

"...[Western States] did not stipulate to an absolute award of any prejudgment interest that [the Fullers] requested. Rather, in withdrawing the jury instruction on that issue, the parties agreed that the [c]ourt should make the final determination regarding prejudgment interest after the conclusion of the trial and add that amount to the final judgment." R. 1796. "In order to determine ...what the amount of interest is, ...[and] [g]iven the parties' agreement that the [c]ourt should make the final determination of prejudgment interest, I believe that further briefing on the prejudgment issue would be appropriate." *Id.*

After the parties provided supplemental briefing, the district court explained its views of the briefs at the start of additional argument, in order to elicit clarification from the parties:

"I'm going to stick by my preliminary ruling that there was a stipulation as to the entitlement of prejudgment interest, and that it was based on that stipulation that Mr. Christiansen withdrew [I]nstruction 29. That leaves, though, the question of the calculation, and I had said in chambers on the record, to the extent anything in my memorandum decision is inconsistent with that ruling or this ruling, I'm vacating that portion of the memorandum decision."

R.1973:12. The court then heard the parties' additional argument, and decided the interest rate question later the same day:

"I have spent some more time considering the question of the appropriate rate in this matter, and re-reviewed some of the authorities. I am convinced that the post judgment rate is appropriate, not the 10 percent rate in this matter."

R.1973:20.

In sum, the district court's decisions to reconsider the appropriate interest rate and to apply the post-judgment rate may be affirmed as a reformation of the stipulation to withdraw the instruction as to the interest rate, which had been based on a mutual mistake regarding the scope of the stipulation and was also an error of law.

The Fullers' appeal can and should be denied on this alternative ground.

D. Any Error Regarding the Stipulation to Withdraw Jury Instruction No. 29 Was Invited By the Fullers.

The district court's statement that "the amount is fine" is not appealable, as it was not part of any order of the court; it was an ambiguous remark of the court, at most. In addition, any error regarding the withdrawal of Jury Instruction No. 29 results from ambiguity sanctioned or unquestioned by the Fullers, and any resulting error was therefore invited.

The parties (and the court) agreed that not all questions related to interest were stipulated away; the date of accrual was always in question. *Compare* R.1805-06; and R.1840. In addition, at the time of the stipulation, neither liability nor an amount of damages were resolved. R.1969:68-73. While the Fullers apparently thought the interest rate was settled, their understanding was singular and not shared by others. When the

district court reviewed the record, the withdrawal of Jury Instruction No. 29 was premised only on the award of interest, not on a particular calculation of interest.²²

The Fullers effectively seek to appeal the district court's isolated comments in an effort to justify reversal – in particular, by referencing the court's remark "the amount" as "fine." Appt. Brief at 22, 26. Such statements are not appealable, as they only guided the parties' arguments. A similar situation was address in *Braun v. Nevada Chemicals, Inc.*, 2010 UT App 188, 236 P.3d 176. Braun, upon hearing that the court was leaning against his position and considering dismissal of his complaint with prejudice, willingly withdrew his complaint to avoid that outcome and refile under an alternative theory. *Id.*, at ¶14. Braun later argued that the court's comments before his withdrawal showed that the court had decided against him, and that withdrawal was simply the efficient means to an appealable end. *Id.*, at ¶14.

The Court of Appeals distinguished a court's comments from an appealable action:

"[B]y withdrawing his ... complaint in order to avoid the risk of a dismissal with prejudice, [Braun] failed to obtain a ruling from the trial court that he could challenge on appeal. The judge expressed her preliminary opinion of Defendants' motion to dismiss, but she did not grant or deny the motion. Comments such as those by the trial judge here are useful to guide counsel's argument, are entirely appropriate, and are not appealable. " [T]he law is well settled ... that the statements made by a trial judge are not the judgment of the case and it is only the signed judgment that prevails.... [No order of the court] dismissed the complaint; Plaintiff withdrew it."

²² "...[T]here was a stipulation as to the entitlement of prejudgment interest, and that it was based on that stipulation that Mr. Christiansen withdrew Instruction No. 29. That leaves, though, the question of the calculation...." R.1973:12.

Braun, ¶14, citing *State v. Gerrard*, 584 P.2d 885, 887 (Utah 1978) (affirming the district court's written, signed ruling even though it differed from that court's prior oral ruling)."

Here, the Fullers agreed to withdraw Jury Instruction No. 29. That did not prevent the Fullers from presenting their evidence or argument to the jury or the court, before, during, or after the trial. The court's statement that "the amount is fine" can relate to several aspects of the discussions about the Special Verdict form, the multiple considerations about prejudgment interest, or both. Under *Braun*, the district court's statement that "the amount is fine" does not constitute an order of any sort and is not appealable. Only the district court's enforcement of the stipulation to withdraw may be appealable, and the scope of that stipulation is not shown by the court's ambiguous remark (which was only one statement among many on the interrelated subjects discussed at the time).²³

The only thing that the stipulated withdrawal accomplished was to concede that prejudgment interest was to be calculated by Judge Himonas if the jury awarded property damages. Nothing less, nothing more.

Finally, any error in enforcing the stipulation was occasioned by the Fullers' express agreement to withdraw Jury Instruction No. 29 without clarifying the scope of its agreement. It is undisputed that the subsequent determination of the date of accrual was left to the judge, and the Fullers should not now be allowed to reimagine the discussions to suggest that nothing was left to be determined. "[A] party cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing the error."

²³ R. 1973:68-74.

Braun at ¶15, quoting *Pratt v. Nelson*, 2007 UT 41, ¶ 17, 164 P.3d 366. Any ambiguity in the scope of the parties' stipulation should bear on the party seeking relief—the Fullers.

Any error regarding the scope of the stipulation was invited by the Fullers and this Court should therefore affirm the district court's appropriately discretionary decision concerning the scope of such stipulation.

E. The Fullers' Accusation of a "Bait and Switch" is a Baseless Tactic Not Permitted by the U.R.A.P. and Should Be Struck From the Appeal and/or Disregarded.

The Fullers inappropriately accuse Western States of a "bait and switch approach" regarding the withdrawal of Jury Instruction No. 29. Appts. Brief at 24, n.4; 49 (calling it a "litigation tactic" and "legal maneuvering.") This desperate approach asserting that Western States engaged in a deliberate, preconceived strategy is wholly without merit and should be stricken from the record. Should the Court entertain such a statement, it amounts to a claim of fraudulent inducement.²⁴ Western States categorically denies making any false statement about the stipulation to withdraw, about the interest rate, or about any other issue in this case. The record does not reflect any false representations and shows that that no inducement was intended nor was one suffered.

²⁴ See, e.g., *Daines v. Vincent*, 190 P.3d 1269, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 38 (stating that a claim of fraudulent inducement requires "clear and convincing evidence" establishing eight elements "with particularity," including but not limited to evidence of a knowing (or reckless) false representation regarding a "presently existing material fact" that was made while "knowing that there was insufficient knowledge upon which to base such a representation.") In addition to not making a false statement of fact with knowledge, the Fullers knew far more of the existing facts that they intended to present than did Western States.

Further, any such insinuations would equally apply to the district court, which made considerable efforts to repeatedly review the record in fairness to both parties and shared Western States' view that the rate of interest was not stipulated. The Fullers were as aware of the facts and law related to their claims as anyone involved in this matter. Unless the Fullers suggest that Western States' good faith efforts, representations, and arguments were part of some grander conspiracy with the district court to deprive the Fullers of prejudgment interest, the Fullers' insinuations amount to sour grapes at best, and scandalous at worst.²⁵ As in *Peters*, in support of these allegations Fullers' counsel offers nothing beyond the fact that the errors were made. Western States respectfully suggests that this Court strike such defamatory and offensive statements from the record.

²⁵ See, e.g. *Peters v. Pine Meadow Ranch Home Ass'n*, 2007 UT 2, ¶¶ 7-10, 151 P.3d 962 (striking appellants' briefs which made unfounded accusations about motive rather than mere error as scandalous and imposing sanctions and attorneys' fees on appellant's counsel) ("[Appellant's] counsel was fully entitled to note the factual error made by the court of appeals.... Indeed, it was his obligation as an advocate to do so. So, too, was it fully appropriate for counsel to assert that the court of appeals had incorrectly interpreted [a] case. ...[A]ddress[ing] errors of fact and law is the very purpose of the appellate process. ...[But] [t]here is a light year's difference between an innocent mistake of fact or law and the intentional fabrication of evidence or the intentional misstatement of a holding... Counsel's unfounded accusations ...are scandalous in that they are defamatory and offensive to propriety. ...[Counsel has claimed] that these errors were intentional and the result of improper motives. In support of these accusations, counsel offers nothing beyond the fact that the errors were made.")

F. Western States Preserved Its Arguments About the Applicable Interest Rate and the District Court's Decision Was Within Its Discretion.

Western States appropriately preserved its arguments about the scope of the stipulation to withdraw Jury Instruction No. 29, and is therefore not estopped from addressing the applicable interest rate.

The Fullers misunderstand and/or misapply controlling case law addressing stipulations. Even though “when a court adopts a stipulation of the parties, the issues to which the parties have stipulated become ‘settled’ and ‘not reserved for future consideration,’”²⁶ the stipulation analysis here is not complete, because the scope of the stipulation itself is at issue.

The circumstances here limit the scope of the stipulation, which necessarily affects whether or not the district court acted within its discretion when enforcing the stipulation. In the cases cited by the Fullers, stipulations were negotiated at length and placed in writing by the parties as to specific facts. Most critical to the Court's analysis, the *Prinsburg* court declined to address his claims because “he failed to preserve these issues for appeal when it stipulated to their resolution and did not subsequently ask the district court to limit or modify the judgment resulting therefrom.” *Prinsburg* at ¶12 (citation omitted).

²⁶ *Prinsburg* at ¶14, citing *Amoss v. Bennion*, 517 P.2d 1008, 1009-10 (Utah 1973); see also *Redev. Agency v. Tanner*, 740 P.2d 1296, 1299-1300 (Utah 1987) (concluding that the parties' stipulations precluded “future determination” of the issues contained therein).

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